
 

 

 

INVESTMENT BOARD 
 
MONDAY, 14 NOVEMBER 2022 
 
2.00 PM 
 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL, 
COUNTY ROAD 

Committee Officer: Linda Albon  
Tel: 01354 622229 

e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 
 
Whilst this meeting is being held in public, we encourage members of the public to view the 
meeting via our YouTube channel: https://youtu.be/O7PXgI6N0v8 
 

1   Apologies  
 

2   Previous Minutes (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To approve and sign the public minutes of the meeting held 11 July 2022.  
 

3   To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by 
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified.  
 

4   Members to declare any interests under the Local Code of Conduct in respect of any 
item to be discussed at the meeting.  
 

5   Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent.  
 

6   Update on Current Projects (Pages 7 - 14) 
 
To provide FDC Investment Board with an update on the FFL investment projects.  
 
The appendix to this report comprises exempt information – to exclude the pubic 
(including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for the following 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/O7PXgI6N0v8


proposition to be moved and adopted: “that the public be excluded from the meeting 
for Items which would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in the paragraphs 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) as indicated.” 
 

CONFIDENTIAL - ITEMS COMPRISING EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
To exclude the public (including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for 
the following proposition to be moved and adopted: "that the public be excluded from the 
meeting for Items which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraphs 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) as 
indicated." 
 

7   Previous Minutes - Confidential (Pages 15 - 20) 
 
To approve and sign the confidential minutes of the meeting held 11 July 2022.  
 

Friday, 4 November 2022 
 
Members:  Councillor C Boden (Chairman), Councillor I Benney (Vice-Chairman) and Councillor S Tierney 



 
 

INVESTMENT BOARD 
 

 
MONDAY, 11 JULY 2022 - 11.00 AM 

 
PRESENT: Councillor C Boden (Chairman) and Councillor I Benney (Vice-Chairman) 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: Adam Broadway (Instinctively Green Ltd), Amy Brown (Head of 
Legal and Governance), Peter Catchpole (Corporate Director and Chief Finance Officer), Anna 
Goodall (Acting Assistant Director), Simon Machen (Interim Corporate Director), Mark Saunders 
(Chief Accountant) and Linda Albon (Member Services & Governance Officer) 
 
IB1/22 PREVIOUS MINUTES 

 
The public minutes of the meeting held 3 December 2021 were approved and signed.  
 
IB2/22 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIRMAN FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 
It was proposed by Councillor Boden and resolved that Councillor Benney be Vice-Chairman for 
the Investment Board for this Municipal Year.  
 
IB3/22 FENLAND FUTURE LTD FINANCING 

 
Members considered the Fenland Future Ltd Financing report presented by Peter Catchpole. 
 
Peter Catchpole emphasised this is not a request for funding, this is a request to agree a loan 
agreement which will trigger how the Council funds in the future.  
 
Councillor Boden thanked Peter Catchpole for this report, saying it has been a long time coming 
and it is good to be at this stage now. However, there are two places within the report with 
referencing issues that need amending, namely: 
 

1. Paragraph 11.2.2.2 on page 34 of the agenda pack, and similarly  
2. Paragraph 5, 19.1 on page 49.  

 
The Investment Board AGREED to approve the Loan Agreement as set out at Schedule 1 of 
the report and to delegate authority to the Section 151 Officer and/or his nominated 
delegate(s) to authorise drawdown requests in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Investment Board or, if they are not available, one of the other members of the Investment 
Board, in accordance with the process outlined in Section 5 of the Loan Agreement itself.   
 
IB4/22 FENLAND FUTURE LTD DEED OF INDEMNITY 

 
Members considered the Fenland Future Ltd (FFL) Deed of Indemnity report presented by Peter 
Catchpole. 
 
Councillor Boden stated that it would not be right to potentially put officers in a position of personal 
liability when carrying out the requests of the Investment Board, so this is report is welcome. He 
added that there are three different definitions of who is covered, looking at the deed of indemnity it 
relates in differing parts of the report to directors, officers of the Company, and officers and 
members of Fenland District Council.   

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 
Councillor Boden stated his concern about the position of the Company Secretary and requested 
clarification about the position of that role and whether they could or should be covered also. Peter 
Catchpole responded that he had looked at this from a legal perspective and the Company 
Secretary is covered in a statutory role as an officer of FFL and has the same standing as a 
director, therefore this term includes the Company Secretary. Councillor Boden stated that he 
would like this to be made clear in the report recommendations. Peter Catchpole agreed that would 
be acceptable.  
 
The Investment Board AGREED to approve the form of indemnity agreement attached to the 
report, ensuring that it will also cover the Company Secretary.  
 
IB5/22 FENLAND FUTURE LTD SERVICE LEVEL AGREEMENT 

 
Members considered the Fenland Future Ltd Service Level Agreement report presented by Peter 
Catchpole.  
 
Councillor Boden said the agreement anticipates that there will be quarterly charges raised in 
arrears and he asked if it will be necessary to have a backdated set of invoices going back to 
beginning of the operation of the company. Peter Catchpole confirmed it will be necessary, there 
are accruals in both sets of accounts for costs incurred to date by both Fenland District Council 
(FDC) and FFL so it will be backdated to when FFL was first incorporated.  
 
Councillor Boden queried the VAT status of FFL, the relationship between FDC and FFL and how 
it relates to service charges. Peter Catchpole responded that FFL is a registered entity for VAT, so 
FDC will have to charge VAT to FFL on these services, but FFL should be able to reclaim the VAT.  
Councillor Boden thanked Peter Catchpole but asked why it was decided to have two separate 
VAT registrations rather than absorb FFL into FDC’s registration assuming that is legal. Peter 
Catchpole replied that officers had investigated several options and taken advice, they wanted FFL 
to be part of a separate VAT group because it is one limited company but depending on how we 
deliver going forward, this seemed to be the most advantageous way of doing that.   
 
Councillor Benney said if there was a specific project being looked at where the VAT implications 
would be different, another company could always be set up to run that project through with a 
different VAT scheme. Peter Catchpole replied that the most tax efficient way of doing things for 
any project would certainly be examined, and a number of options for how we deliver things 
through FFL are currently being looked at.  
 
Councillor Boden asked how often VAT registration for FFL is reported. Mark Saunders replied 
FFL is reported quarterly and FDC is reported monthly. Councillor Boden asked officers to ensure 
that we do not end up with a timing difference that is disadvantageous to the entity as a whole.  
 
The Investment Board AGREED to approve the draft Service Level Agreement at Schedule 1 
of the report.  
 
IB6/22 FENLAND FUTURE LTD BUSINESS PLAN 

 
Members considered the Fenland Future Ltd Business Plan report presented by Adam Broadway, 
on behalf of FFL.  
 
Councillor Boden said it is accepted that the Financial Plan will not end up correct; it is the best 
estimate that can be made with all the current uncertainties as to how FFL will pan out, but it is a 
moving target and will be updated on a quarterly basis. There is no figure for finance charges for 
2025/6 but much will depend on cash flow and the speed at which properties can be built and sold. 
One would hope that the cash flow of the company will mean that it no longer will require any loan 

Page 4



by 2025/6 but it is impossible to say. However, it is clear from the outline figures that the Business 
Plan is coherent and has significant potential for more profit than losses.  
 
Members AGREED to note the Fenland Future Ltd Business Plan report and endorse the 
adoption of the revised FFL Business Plan (April 2022 to March 2025) and to receive further 
reports on the progress of FFL projects against the approved Business Plan in accordance 
with the approved articles of association for FFL.  
 
IB7/22 SCHEME UPDATE REPORTS INCLUDING LAND TRANSFERS - CONFIDENTIAL 

 
Members considered the Scheme Update report including and transfers presented by Adam 
Broadway. 
 
Members made comments, asked questions and received responses. 
 
Members AGREED to note the confidential Scheme Briefing Paper, to authorise officers to 
assess the legal, financial and governance implications and, subject to these, for officers to 
present a formal case for approval at a future meeting.   
 
(Members resolved to exclude the public from the meeting for this item of business on the grounds 
that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972). 
 
IB8/22 AN UPDATE ON CURRENT OPPORTUNITIES - CONFIDENTIAL 

 
Members were provided with an update on current opportunities in the form of a verbal report 
presented by Peter Catchpole. 
 
Members made comments, asked questions and received responses. 
 
(Members resolved to exclude the public from the meeting for this item of business on the grounds 
that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972). 
 
IB9/22 PREVIOUS MINUTES - CONFIDENTIAL 

 
The confidential minutes of the meeting held 3 December 2021 were approved and signed.  
 
(Members resolved to exclude the public from the meeting for this item of business on the grounds 
that it involved the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972). 
 
 
 
 
12.18 pm                     Chairman 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 
No: 6  

Committee: Investment Board 

Date:  14 November 2022 

Report Title: FFL Investment Opportunities: Update 

 
This item comprises EXEMPT INFORMATION which is not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972 (as amended). 
 
Cover sheet: 
1 Purpose / Summary 
1.1 This paper provides FDC Investment Board with an update on the FFL Investment 

Projects 
 
2 Key Issues 
2.1 Progress continues to be made regarding the two priority schemes at The Elms, 

Chatteris and Nene Waterfront, Wisbech. 
2.2 Outline Planning Applications are due to be presented to the FDC Planning 

Committee in December 2022. 
2.3 FDC Cabinet will be receiving a paper (December) to seek approval to progress the 

land transfer of the two priority sites to FFL. 
2.4 Subject to the above, legal Due diligence will be required by FFL legal team 
2.5 Attached to this report is a project update and revised project programme. 
 
3 Recommendations 
3.1 Members are requested to note the report.  
3.2 Receive further reports on the progress the project and to approve the implementation 

methodology. 
 
Wards Affected March ward/s 

Forward Plan 
Reference 

 

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllrs Boden, Benney and Tierney 
 

Report Originator(s) Adam Broadway and Dan Horn 

Contact Officer(s) Peter Catchpole 

Background Papers Project Proposal 
Supporting scheme information from consultant advisors 
including valuation reports. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Report: 
1 Reasons for Exemption 
 
1.1 Attachments to this Report are NOT FOR PUBLICATION in accordance with 

Paragraph 3 Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 in that it contains 
information relating to financial and commercial information.   The public 
interest test has been applied to the information contained within this exempt 
report and it is considered that the need to retain the information as exempt 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 

 
2 BACKGROUND AND INTENDED OUTCOMES 
 
2.1 FFL was incorporated in June 2020. 
  
2.2 Since adoption of the FFL Business Plan, two FDC owned sites have been identified 

for FFL to focus on and bring forward proposals for development. Further projects are 
being appraised by FFL. 

 
2.3 A Consultant team has been procured in-line with FDC procurement rules and a series 

of technical reports have been commissioned to support the land purchases and 
outline planning applications for the two sites. 

 
2.4 The projects will provide revenue generating development opportunities for FFL. 
 
 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Endorsing and noting the Project Proposal Report enables FFL to progress and meet 

its business purpose. 
 
4 CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 The FFL Briefing Paper has been consulted with FFL Board and senior FDC officers 
 
5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
5.1 The project has undergone external and internal options assessments. No alternatives 

are being tabled at this point. 
 
 
 
6 IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 Legal Implications 
 

Page 8



6.1.1 Each element of the commercial development proposals is receiving the 
relevant legal support. Separate legal support is provided for the Council and  
FFL. 

 
 
6.2 Financial Implications 
 
6.2.1 All finance considerations are considered on each initiative in accordance with 

the Commercial Investment strategy of the Council and in relation to FFL 
initiatives, the best commercial interests of the company 

 
6.3 Equality Implications 
 
 N/A. 
 
6.4 Any Other Relevant Implications 
 
6.4.1 The other two priority projects are identified within the FFL Business Plan as and 

remain FFL’s focus for activity over the next year. 
 
6.4.2 The schemes will require reserved matters planning applications to be prepared and 

submitted as part of a delivery strategy. 
 
6.4.3 The Project budgets form part of the revised and approved FFL Business Plan. 
 
6.4.4 Tender processes will be undertaken for both the selection of the Extra Care provider 

at Wisbech and the delivery partner for the Elms, Chatteris scheme. These will be in-
line with the adopted FFL Procurement rules 

 
6.4.4 No formal recommendations are required by FDC IB 
 
 
 
7 SCHEDULES 
 
7.1 Project Update Report 
 
7.2 FFL updated project programme 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 15

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	6 Update on Current Projects
	Cover sheet:
	1 Purpose / Summary
	2 Key Issues
	3 Recommendations

	Report:
	1 Reasons for Exemption

	FFL and FDC Investment Projects Report for Oct 22 v1

	7 Previous Minutes - Confidential

